IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC02-1212 Lower Tribunal No.: 94-02958CFANO

ROBERT GORDON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BARON W. GIVEN Florida Bar No. 325244 P.O. Box 468 1301 Sixth Ave. W., Suite 104 Bradenton, Florida 34206 (941) 741-9778 Capital Collateral Registry

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Gordon's motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Arizona v. Youngblood,</u> 488 U.S. (1988)
Breard v. Green,
523 U.S. 371 (1998) 64
Brim v. State,
695 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1997) 39
<u>Bertolotti v. State,</u>
476 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1985)
<u>Carbo v. U. S.,</u> 581 F.2d 91 (5 th Cir. 1978)
<u>Coleman v. State</u> ,
610 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1992)
<u>Crum v. State,</u>
398 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1981)

DeFreitas v. State,

vi

701 So.2d 593 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)

<u>Duran v. Missouri,</u> 439 U.S. 357 (1979)

vii

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (continued)

<u>Jeffries v. State,</u> 776 So.2d 335 (Fla. 1 st DCA 2001)
<u>Jones v. Moore,</u> 794 So.2d 579 (Fla. 2001)
<u>Jones v. State,</u> 440 So.2d 570 (Fla. 1983)
<u>Jordon v. State,</u> 694 So.2d 708 (Fla. 1997)
Lovett v. Florida, 627 F.2d 706 (5 th Cir. 1980)
<u>MacDonald v. State,</u> 743 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1999)
<u>McCray v. State,</u> 416 So.2d 804 (Fla. 1982)

viii

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (continued)

<u>McLean v. State,</u> 754 So.2d 176 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000)

<u>Overton v. State,</u> 531 So.2d 1382 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1988)
<u>Peacock v. State,</u> 160 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1964)
<u>Ramirez v. State,</u> 810 So.2d 836 (Fla. 2001)
<u>Ruiz v. State,</u> 743 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1999)
<u>Rummel v. Estelle,</u> 509 F.2d 103 (5 th Cir. 1979)
<u>Squires v. State,</u> 558 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1990)
<u>Strickland v. Washington,</u> 466 U.S. 668 (1984) 23, 25, 26, 29, 34, 37, 38, 45, 48, 52, 63
<u>Urbin v. State,</u> 714 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1998)
<u>Vargus v. State,</u> 640 So.2d 1139 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1994)

<u>Wike v. State,</u> 813 So.2d 12 (Fla. 2002)

ix

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (continued)

Other Authorities

Germany v. United States, 2001 I.C.J. 104

U.S. Const. Arts. VI, cl 2

Vienna Convention Consular Relations April 24, 1963 (1970) 21 U.S.T. 77, T.I.A.S. 6820, 21 U.S.T. 77......63, 64

x STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below

The Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit, Pinellas County, Florida, pursuant to its' Sentencing Order (R. 2526-2543) entered the Judgments and Sentence at issue on November 16, 1995 (R. 2544-2546).

On March 21, 1994, Robert Gordon was one of three people indicted on one count of murder in the first degree (R. 6-7). His plea of not guilty was filed March 23, 1994 (R. 8).On April 27, 1994 the indictment was amended making Mr. Gordon one of five people indicted (R. 32-33). His plea of not guilty to the amended indictment was filed April 29, 1994 (R. 34).

The joint trial of Robert Gordon and Meryl McDonald was held from June 6, 1995 through June 15, 1995. The jury returned a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree as to both Mr. Gordon and Mr. McDonald. (R. 2362-2364). A penalty phase proceeding was held on June 16, 1995, after which the jury recommended the

death penalty by a majority vote of 9 to 3 (R. 2402).

On direct appeal, the sentence and conviction of |Mr. Gordon was affirmed. Gordon v. State, 704 So.2d 107 (Fla. 1997).

On February 17, 1999, Mr. Gordon, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and

1

3.851, filed his Motion For Post Conviction Relief requesting the lower court vacate the judgment, conviction and death sentence and order a new trial (PC-R. Vol. I, 1-20). On March 11, 1999 the court entered an Order To Show Cause (PC-R. Vol. I, 31) and on May 24, 1999, the State filed its Response (PC-R. Vol. I, 32-59) and exhibits (PR-R. Vol. I, II, 60-406). After review of the State's response, the court, on June 3, 1999, ordered a hearing pursuant to Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993) and set the hearing for August 9, 1999 (PC-R. Vol. III, 407-408). After the hearing, the court entered an order on March 23, 2000 granting an evidentiary hearing to what the court identified as issues 3, 4, as to DNA, 5 and 9 but denied an evidentiary hearing as to what the court identified as issues 1,2,6,7,8,10,11 and 12 (PC-R. Vol. III, 411-412). Those issues were later summarily denied in the court's written order of April 20, 2002. The evidentiary hearing was conducted on February 15 and 16, 2001.

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing the court stated it did not want to hear closing arguments but would accept written closing arguments (PC-R . Vol

VII, 958). On April 20, 2002, the Court denied Mr. Gordon's motion for post conviction relief (PC-R. Vol. III, 437-479). Timely notice of appeal was filed on May 8, 2002 (PC-R. Vol. III, 489). This appeal is properly before this Court.
II. <u>Statement of Facts</u>

2

a. <u>Facts introduced at Trial and Sentencing</u>

The facts introduced in the trial of this case have been previously set forth by this Court in *State v. Gordon*, 704 So.2d 107, 108-110 (1998). By way of summary, Dr. Louis A. Davidson was found murdered in his St. Petersburg apartment on January 25, 1994. He and his wife had been involved in a bitter dissolution of marriage which involved the custody of a minor child. Shortly after the discovery of his body, the St. Petersburg Police Department placed his Wife, Denise Davidson, who resided in Tampa, under 24 hour surveillance. As a result of that action, the police obtained copies of Western Union money transfers from Mrs. Davidson made primarily to Mr. Gordon. Telephone intercepts and cellular phone records obtained by warrant primarily linked co-defendant MacDonald. The police also obtained various motel registrations placing Robert Gordon and MacDonald in Tampa at various times prior to and including the day before and the day of the homicide. Witnesses were also located in the Miami area who, on various dates, accompanied the two men to the Tampa Bay area. None of this

evidence, however, placed Robert Gordon at the scene of the homicide.

The conviction of Robert Gordon was obtained almost exclusively from the testimony of Susan Shore, whose only connection to the crime, according to her undisputed testimony, was that of driving Mr. Gordon and MacDonald to Tampa on

3

January 24, 1994 and then to St. Petersburg on the day of the homicide. In contrast, MacDonald's conviction resulted not only from the testimony of Ms. Shore but also as a result of the victim's DNA found on clothing worn by MacDonald. In addition, fibers found on the same clothing were consistent with materials in the victim's apartment. A shoe imprint at the scene, was also consistent with MacDonald's shoe.

There was absolutely no physical evidence placing Robert Gordon in the apartment of the victim. There was absolutely no testimonial evidence placing Robert Gordon in the apartment of the victim, including the testimony of Susan Shore. The testimony of Ms. Shore, however, did place both Mr. Gordon and MacDonald at the apartment complex at or near the time of the homicide. In addition, another witness, two buildings away, identified Mr. Gordon as being the person she saw in the company of a blond white female at the apartment complex.

Neither Mr. Gordon or MacDonald testified at trial. Neither counsel for Mr.

Gordon or MacDonald elected to put on any defense. In their joint trial, both Mr. Gordon and MacDonald were convicted of murder in the first degree.

During the penalty phase, Robert Gordon, presented three mitigation witnesses and MacDonald presented one. At the conclusion of the penalty phase each received a jury recommendation of the death penalty by the same vote of 9 to 3

Of the three remaining people indicted for the murder of Dr. Davidson,

4

Denise Davidson was convicted in a separate trial and sentenced to life. Susan Shore was allowed to plea to an accessory charge in exchange for her testimony and deported. Leo Cisneros remains at large.

b. <u>Facts introduced at Evidentiary Hearing</u>

To prove, among other things, that trial counsel had been ineffective, Mr. Gordon presented the testimony of Dr. Renee Herrera, Norma Rose, Flovia Tyrell and himself. To rebut the evidence of Mr. Gordon and his witnesses, the State presented the testimony of Dr. Martin Tracy, Ralph Phleiger, Detective Ronald Noodwang, Michael Schwartzberg and Robert Love.

Dr. Renee Herrera, an Associate Professor at the Department of Biological Sciences at Florida International University (PC-R. Vol. IV, 511) was permitted by the court at the evidentiary hearing to offer his opinion as an expert witness in the fields of DNA population genetics and molecular biology (PC-R. Vol. IV, 517). He testified that he had reviewed the reports of FBI agent Michael Vick, who was the States's DNA expert at trial (TT, 1214). Dr. Herrera also went to the FBI headquarters in Quantico, Virginia so he could inspect and analyze materials not previously provided (PC-R. Vol. IV, 518). Included in the review was all the documentation the lab possessed, including the data base used by agent Vick to generate the probabilities (PC-R. Vol. IV, 519). The doctor identified certain

5

issues of concern which included that the probabilities generated were not "robust" but far below the current standards of expectation; that only three of the four slides looked at gave usable numbers (PC-R. Vol. IV, 523); and that the location of the bands of the material used could have been compromised by multiple donations (PC-R. Vol. IV, 528-29). He also believed that since the victim was of mixed racial origin the calculations could contain uncertainty up to two orders of magnitude in either direction (PC-R. Vol. IV, 535). Subgroups or substructures was another area of concern to Dr. Herrera due to the controversy within the scientific community as to their affect on population frequency calculations (PC-R. Vol. IV, 537-9). He opined that, because of all the issues that existed in this case, the testimony of agent Vick would not have been accepted within the general scientific community (PC-R. Vol. IV, 546-8). At this stage of the hearing, the court acknowledged it's own

concern over the substructure issue (PC-R. Vol. IV, 550). A final area of concern raised by Dr. Herrera was that the trial testimony of agent Vick implied that the agent performed the test upon which he testified. Dr. Herrera, however, believed the actual tests were performed by other lab technicians (PC-R. Vol. IV, 555).

At the conclusion of Dr. Herrera's testimony, the State was permitted to call it's expert, Doctor Martin Tracy, also a professor of biological sciences at Florida International University (PC-R. Vol. IV, 574-5). Dr. Tracy testified that he too had

6

reviewed the trial testimony of agent Vick but found no problem with how it was presented to the jury (PC-R. Vol. IV, 577). While he did not agree with how Dr. Herrera used the term " robust", he did understand what Dr. Herrera meant and agreed that evidence is more compelling when the odds are less frequent. (PC-R.Vol. IV, 579). He also testified that agent Vick's presentation of the ratio's with respect to each of the three major groups, Caucasians, African Americans and Hispanics, was consistent with the 1992 recommendation of the National Research Council. He acknowledged, however, that though all three would not apply to the victim and that the use of the three groups was not a scientific requirement but rather a logical one. (PC-R. Vol. IV, 580-8). Dr. Tracy next addressed Dr. Herrera's concern about missing bands on the ladders discovered when Dr. Herrera and in fact agreed, that missing bands may have made those ladders unusable. He dismissed the concern, however, by stating that while the x-rays examined may have had missing bands no one testified, including Dr. Herrera, that they were actually used (PC-R. Vol. IV, 582). In responding next to the issue of substructures, Dr. Tracy believed the issue began in a Florida case in which he testified. He admitted that in 1989, the scientific community did not know the impact of subcultures on frequency differences and attempted to explain his previous testimony (PC-R. Vol. IV, 585-7).

7

Dr. Tracy then went on to testify that, in addition to reviewing agent Vick's testimony, he too had reviewed lab reports, x-rays and data bases that agent Vick used. He opined that agent Vick's testimony would have met the Frye standard in because it was generally accepted in the scientific community (PC-R. Vol. IV, 589). In addition, he testified that he did his own calculations using different data bases and found his results to be consistent with those done by agent Vick (PC-R. Vol. IV, 593). When questioned, however, about the number of probes, Dr. Tracy admitted that from 1990 through 1995, the industry standard was four probes. He acknowledged that when these tests were done in 1994 agent Vick had four probes but only three were used because the fourth did not give interpretable results (PC-R. Vol. IV, 593).

The next witness presented on behalf of Mr. Gordon was his sister, Norma Rose (PC-R. Vol. V, 622). The thrust of her testimony was that Mr. Gordon and Ms. Tyrell arrived at her home in Miramar, Florida between 3:00pm and 4:00pm on January 25, 1994 for a family dinner (PC-R. Vol. V, 623-4). She explained that she had not informed Mrs. Obermeyer of that information because she was never asked but did tell Mr. Love (PC-R. Vol. V, 624-25). Ms. Rose testified that she had discussed the matter with Mr. Love on two occasions, once in his office and once during the trial. She admitted that she didn't realize the dinner was on January 25, 1994 for a family dinner (PC-R. Vol. V, 624-25).

8

1994 until Ms. Tyrell had refreshed her recollection (PC-R. Vol. V, 628). She also testified, during cross examination, that she had been questioned by various law enforcement officers and specifically recalled telling Det. Celona that her brother was with her on the day of the crime (PC-R. Vol. V, 636).

The next witness to testify was Flovia Tyrell, who is the mother of Mr. Gordon's child. She explained in some detail how she knew the date of the dinner was January 25, 1994. She stated she had first seen Mr. Gordon in the morning when he picked her up for breakfast about 9:30am.. Then went to the beach on Key Biscayne (PC-R. Vol. V, 639-40). She also explained the circumstances of her interview with Mr. Love. As she told him about being with Mr. Gordon and even produced a beach picture of Mr. Gordon she said was taken the day of the crime, Mr. Love only criticized her for stuttering (PC-R. Vol. V, 642-43). On cross examination, contrary to the State's implication, she testified she had in fact told various officers that Mr. Gordon saw his child regularly and that they had been together on January 25, 1994 (PC-R. Vol. V, 647). She also testified that she told Mr. Phleiger, an investigator for the public defender, that she was with Mr. Gordon. She did not recall telling anyone that they had gone to a tire store on January 25, 1994 (PC-R. Vol. V, 647-50).

An the evidentiary hearing, Robert Gordon's testified that during his first and

9

subsequent contacts with members of the Public Defender's office he maintained his innocence (PC-R. Vol. V, 652). He did the same with the police, who for four hours on the date of his arrest, attempted to question him (PC-R. Vol. V, 653-54). He denied knowing Denise Davidson, Dr. Davidson or having any dealings with Susan Shore and denied being with Merle McDonald on the date of the crime (PC-R. Vol. V, 655-56).

Regarding Mr. Love, who had become Mr. Gordon's trial counsel, Mr. Gordon recalled first meeting him about a month before trial when it was explained to him that a conflict had occurred with the Public Defender's Office which required the appointment of Mr. Love. Since the purpose of the meeting was introductory, the case was not discussed (PC-R. Vol. V, 657-59). Mr. Gordon testified that at his second meeting with Mr. Love, when the case was discussed for the first time, he gave Mr. Love his alibi witnesses (PC-R. Vol. V 661) and repeatedly told him that he wanted to put on an alibi defense (PC-R. Vol. V, 663). When Mr. Gordon later learned that Mr. Love was not going to put on a defense he referred to "some very heated exchange " that took place between the two of them on more than one occasion (PC-R. Vol. V, 665). As a result of this apparent conflict and Mr. Gordon's adamant belief that he had to testify and tell the jury he was in Miami, he filed several motions to act as co-counsel (PC-R. Vol. V, 667). During one such

10

conflict, Mr. Love stated he wasn't going to waste his time locating witnesses and that Mr. Gordon could hire his own investigator (PC-R. Vol. V, 669). As the trial was set to get under way, Mr. Gordon agreed to withdraw his alibi because it was his understanding that Mr. Love would still put on a defense (PC-R. Vol. V, 684-9). It was only later that he learned that no witnesses would be called in his defense and he again became upset (PC-R. Vol. V, 667). He also testified that had he known that there was no physical evidence against him he never would have agreed to withdraw his alibi (PC-R. Vol. V, 668).

Mr. Gordon further testified that, at no time prior to trial, did Mr. Love ever discuss physical evidence or the existence of the State's expert witness, Michael Vick. The first time Mr. Gordon became aware of agent Vick is when he took the stand. The same was true for state witnesses, Chris Allen and William Bodziak (PC-R. Vol. V, 661-62). Prior to trial, Mr. Love had never discussed hair, fibers, DNA, blood or clothing (PC-R. Vol. V, 663).

When questioned about the issue of severance, Mr. Gordon testified that, once again, Mr. Love never discussed the filing of a motion to sever or made any attempt to explain severance (PC-R. Vol. V, 668-69). In fact, Mr. Gordon testified that Mr. Love never discussed trial strategy with him at any time (PC-R. Vol. V, 678). To support that position, he referred to the close of the State's case where

11

Mr. Love announced he would not put on a defense and Mr. Gordon, once again, became very upset (PC-R. Vol. V, 672-73).

Since Mr. Gordon denied being in Pinellas County, he was cross-examined and asked to explain why three witnesses had identified him being at the victim's apartment complex to which he insisted that all three were lying (PC-R. Vol. V, 692-94). The state also inquired about witnesses who had received cellular calls from the Tampa area. Mr. Gordon stated the calls may have been made but not by him.. He, at the time of the crime, had his own cellular phone which was seized by the police. Since the calls on his phone were free, he had no need to use another phone (RC-R. Vol. V, 696-99). The State then proceeded to question Mr. Gordon about his alibi and implied that he had given a different alibi to the Public Defender investigator, Mr. Phleiger, which involved being at a race track. He denied the implication of a different alibi and stated he had never talked to Mr. Phleiger because he learned Mr. Phleiger had been a police officer in St. Petersburg (PC-R. Vol. V, 701-4). When questioned about yet another alibi involving Tire Kingdom, he again affirmed that he had never told anyone anything about a tire store (PC-R. Vol.V, 705-6) and again insisted that he had given both his public defender and Mr. Love one alibi, that of being with Ms.Tyrell (PC-R. Vol. V, 706-7).

12

At the conclusion of Mr. Gordon's testimony no further witnesses were presented on his behalf. The State then called it's second witness, Ralph Phleiger, an investigator for the public defender's office who admitted he had previously worked for the St. Petersburg Police Department (PC-R. Vol. V, 721-22). Mr. Phleiger contradicted Mr. Gordon's testimony by indicating that he had met with and discussed certain facts with Mr. Gordon relating to where Mr. Gordon was on the day of the homicide. Among those facts was that Mr. Gordon had told Mr. Phleiger that he was at a racetrack and had placed a bet on a specific horse (PC-R. Vol. V, 722-25). The investigator testified that he went to the racetrack and that records revealed that the horse identified to him by Mr. Gordon did not race on January 25, 1994 (PC-R. Vol. V, 727-29). In addition, he located a witness who recognized Mr. Gordon and commented that he was frequently seen with a white female with blond hair (PC-R. Vol. V, 729-30). Mr. Phleiger also testified that Ms. Tyrell told him that she was able to recall the events of January 25, 1994 because she recalled having tire work done on January 26, 1994. Mr. Phleiger went to Tire Kingdom where a receipt was produced under the name of Robert Gordon bearing the date of January 26, 1994 (PC-R. Vol. V, 731-32). Mr. Phleiger also confirmed that Ms. Tyrell had told him during their first conversation, in March of 1994, that Mr. Gordon had been with her at the beach on January 25, 1994 and that she had

13

also told that to the police.(PC-R. Vol. V, 739-40). Apparently, the date of January 25, 1994 was also reviewed as to a tire repair but the witness could not recall whether it was Mr. Gordon or Mr. Love who discussed it (PC-R. Vol. V, 731-32).

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