IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT GORDON,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC02-1212

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLIE CRIST ATTORNEY GENERAL

KIMBERLY NOLEN HOPKINS Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0986682 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 801-0600 Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Mr. Love billed the county for 241.50 hours on this case for which he was paid. R. 2547-2549, 2552, and Mr. Holloway, counsel for the penalty phase and co-counsel during trial, was paid for 153.50 hours of work on this case. R. 2511-2520.

Mr. Love's preparation was hindered by his client's demand that the case not be continued. EH. 393-394; see also Issue V, *supra*. Gordon can't now be heard to complain that more time wasn't spent or more done for him.

As to the Alibi, *Frye* Hearing, and Severance Issues, which are really what Issue IX principally complains of, this has been discussed in detail in this order. See, Issues III, IV, V, *supra*. Mr. Love and Mr. Holloway did the best they could to prepare a complicated case, for a difficult client who insisted they go to trial only two months and one month after they were appointed. Fortunately, with the joint defense, they had the benefit of the work also done by Mr. Schwartzberg and Mr. Watts, co-counsel for Mr. McDonald. This issue is denied.

(PC-R III/466-470). As such, the trial court determined that

Defendant received effective assistance of counsel at trial.

Nonetheless, Defendant rehashes his arguments concerning the strategic choices of trial counsel in pursuing a defense that the murder happened after Defendant and codefendant McDonald left the scene and refusing to challenge to the DNA evidence linking McDonald to the scene in support of that defense. Once again, this is mere second guessing of the strategy employed by defense counsel.

With the benefit of hindsight, Defendant continues to urge that a defense of mere presence or participation in a lesser offense would have been the best course. However, Defendant is foreclosed from relying on these possible defenses where his testimony at the evidentiary hearing flatly claimed that he was in Miami and nowhere near the victim's apartment at the time of the murder. Consequently, Attorney Love cannot be found deficient for failing to pursue an obviously false theory of defense which is not even supported by the testimony of the Defendant himself.

63

<u>ISSUE X</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED DEFENDANT'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE CLAIM FOR FAILING TO SEEK TO EXCLUDE RESULTS OF DNA TESTING WHERE THE MATERIAL WAS DESTROYED DURING TESTING. (AS RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

Once again, Defendant challenges his trial counsel's decision not to challenge the DNA evidence admitted during trial. While calling into question the credibility of FBI agent Michael Vick regarding the testing procedures employed because the samples were used up during the tests, Defendant has failed to state a claim for which relief might be granted.

As summarized by the trial court's order,

In his Motion, 17-18, defendant seems to say his counsel was ineffective in that he filed no motion regarding the "destruction" of the blood from the sweatshirt, consumed in the DNA tests.

The Response, 23-26, and the trial testimony of Agent Vick, shows that the blood stains were very small and that some, for example the blood specks on the shoes that may have been worn by McDonald, were too small on which to conduct DNA tests, or even blood type. T. 1223, 1230. The sweatshirt that may have been worn by co-defendant McDonald had two small bloodstains that were tested. One had the DNA markings of Dr. Davidson, T. 1227, and the other had a combination of two blood sources, one which was similar to Dr. Davidson's and the other dissimilar to Dr. Davidson's, and thus, unknown. T. 1231. It should be noted that Agent Vick did not have any blood samples from any of the co-defendants to test against the unknown blood. T. 1231. The small amount of blood was totally consumed by the DNA analysis. T. 1236.

This court is well aware that small amounts of blood which are tested for DNA are usually consumed in doing the test. However, the tests done on the blood samples may still be available to be compared with anyone, including Gordon, should such a request be made. DNA tests produce actual printouts of the DNA markings which may have been kept by the FBI. However, no such request has been made, at least not to this court. Of course, as the state pointed out in the state's Response, 25, even if this blood was identified, and it was not Gordon's, this would not establish the defendant's innocence.

Assuming the actual blood from the gray sweatshirt is not now available for additional testing, this still does not give the defendant relief. It is his burden to show bad faith on the part of the state in destroying evidence. Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 US 51 (1988); Merck v. State, 644 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 1995). And where, as here, a chemist must use all the material available to perform his test, the courts have not found bad faith on the part of the state. State v. T.L.W., 457 So. 2d 566 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

Although I did not grant an evidentiary hearing on this issue, collateral counsel asked Mr. Love, at the evidentiary hearing, if he considered a motion "to preserve evidence to do your own testing." Mr. Love testified that, as long as there was nothing to incriminate Mr. Gordon, he did not want to have anything tested. EH. 409-410. Perhaps he feared the results?

Since the blood was consumed during the DNA testing and this was not done in bad faith, the defendant has not shown anything defendant's counsel should have done. It must be remembered that the unknown blood sample was important to the joint defense that McDonald and Gordon went to the doctor's residence to get a paper and that someone else, maybe Leo Cisneros, murdered him. See, Issue IV, supra. Ιf the DNA test on the unknown sample had been compared to the blood of McDonald or Gordon, which it never has been, and if a match had been obtained as to either of them, that would have been devastating to the defense. Mr. Love had nothing to gain and everything to lose to request that Gordon's (or McDonald's) blood be compared to the unknown blood.

Issue X is without merit and is denied.

(PC-R III/470-471).

Thus, where Defendant can demonstrate no prejudice resulting from the consumption of the DNA samples during testing, he is entitled to no relief.

<u>ISSUE XI</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS RIGHTS PURSUANT TO THE VIENNA CONVENTION WERE VIOLATED. (AS RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

Defendant urges error resulted from the summary denial of his claim that as a Jamaican citizen he was denied the right to contact the Jamaican Consulate conferred by the Vienna Convention. This claim has been rejected by this Court. <u>See</u> <u>Darling v. State</u>, 808 So. 2d 145, 165-166 (Fla. 2002), citing <u>Maharaj v. State</u>, 778 So. 2d 944, 959 (Fla. 2000).

In <u>Darling</u>, this Court concluded as follows:

It is unclear that the Vienna Convention creates individual rights enforceable in judicial proceedings. (FN19)

(FN19.) As observed by the Seventh Circuit in <u>U.S. v. Lawal</u>, 231 F.3d 1045 (7th Cir.2000):

While some courts, including ours, have had the opportunity to decide whether Article 36 creates individual rights enforceable in judicial proceedings, all have sidestepped the issue. See Breard v. Greene, 523 U.S. 371, 376, 118 S.Ct. 1352, 140 L.Ed.2d 529 (1998) (per curiam); United States v. Chaparro-Alcantara, 226 F.3d 616, 623-24 (7th Cir.2000); United States v. Cordoba-Mosquera, 212 F.3d 1194, 1196 (11th Cir.2000) (per curiam); United States v. Lombera-Camorlinga, 206 F.3d 882, 885 (9th Cir.2000) (en banc); United States v. Li, 206 F.3d 56, 60 (1st Cir.2000). Likewise, we need not decide the issue today because it does not affect our disposition of this case.

<u>Cf.</u> <u>Maharaj v. State</u>, 778 So. 2d 944, 959 (Fla. 2000) (observing that Maharaj's claim that the State had failed to comply with its international obligation to inform the British Consul that a British citizen had been charged with a capital crime, as required under the Vienna Convention, failed not only because the issue was, in that case, procedurally barred, but also because Maharaj had "failed to establish that he has standing, as treaties are between countries, not citizens") (citing <u>Matta-Ballesteros v. Henman</u>, 896 F.2d 255 (7th Cir.1990)). Indeed, the preamble to the treaty reflects the recognition "that the purpose of such privileges and immunities is not to benefit individuals but to ensure the efficient performance of functions by consular posts on behalf of their respective States." Vienna Convention, preamble, 21 U.S.T. at 79.

However, we need not reach that issue where, as here, Darling has failed to show that he was prejudiced by the claimed violation. As was stated in <u>Breard v. Greene</u>, 523 U.S. 371, 118 S.Ct. 1352, 140 L.Ed.2d 529 (1998), "it is extremely doubtful that the violation should result in the overturning of a final judgment of conviction without some showing that the violation had an effect on the trial." <u>Id.</u> at 372, 118 S.Ct. 1352.

<u>See</u> <u>Darling</u>, 808 So. 2d 145, 165-166.

Similarly, in this case, the trial court noted that the State argued "defendant fails to allege how this prejudiced him or how the outcome would have been different had he been notified of the right or if he had contacted the Consulate and Ambassador." Then, at the *Huff* hearing, collateral counsel said only this, "Judge, I'll rest on what I have in my motion." HH, 120. (PC-R III/472). Now, on appeal, Defendant argues, alternatively, that a showing of prejudice is not required or that the prejudice came from the fact that conflict counsel was appointed for the Defendant prior to trial. Neither of these arguments have merit.

First, Defendant relies on a decision of the International Court of Justice (ICJ) in support of his argument that prejudice is immaterial with regard to a violation of the Vienna Convention. <u>See LaGrand Case (Germany v. U.S.</u>), 2001 I.C.J. 104, -(June 27, 2001). However, the <u>LaGrand</u> decision ruled only that the Vienna Convention confers individual rights which may be invoked in the ICJ by the national State of the detained person, (paragraph 77), and that procedural bars should not be used to prevent courts from considering the effect of a violation of the Vienna Convention on a defendant's trial.³ (Paragraphs 90 and 91).

Further, the quotation cited in Defendant's brief stating it is immaterial whether the LaGrands would have followed

³ Notably, the ICJ also pointed out that the "procedural default" rule itself does not violate the Convention. (See Paragraph 90). As such, the State would submit that it can continue to properly rely on the procedural bar present in the instant case. <u>See Maharaj v. State</u>, 778 So. 2d 944, 959 (Fla. 2000)(an alleged violation of the Vienna Convention should have been raised on direct appeal, but since the issue was not timely pursued, it is procedurally barred).

through on their rights to contact their consulate is taken out of context. (IB, p.64). This assertion was made by the ICJ in rendering its conclusion that the United States had violated its international obligations to Germany under the treaty. (Paragraph 74). Nothing in the opinion suggests that a violation of the Vienna Convention is somehow a *per se* violation entitling Defendant to any relief in a state court criminal proceeding. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Bell v. Virginia</u>, 563 S.E.2d 695, 706-707 (VA. 2002)(The ICJ did not hold that the Vienna Convention creates legally enforceable rights that a defendant may assert in a state criminal proceeding to reverse a conviction.)⁴

Here, the trial court ruled that no prejudice had been demonstrated as a result of any violation of the Vienna Convention. As such, the holding in the <u>LaGrand</u> decision does

⁴Additionally, in the event of a violation of the Vienna Convention, the ICJ would allow the United States to review the conviction and sentence, taking the violation into account, leaving the choice of means for carrying out the obligation of compliance to the United States. Thus, the ICJ acknowledged that procedural rules, such as harmless error analysis, would still govern any analysis of a Vienna Convention violation. <u>See Bell</u>, 563 S.E.2d 695, 706-707 (citations omitted). For example, if the authorities violated Bell's rights under the Vienna Convention by taking his statement prior to informing him of his rights to consular notice and access, any such error could still be deemed harmless in the face of overwhelming evidence of guilt. <u>See Bell</u>, 563 S.E.2d at 707. This same analysis applies equally to Defendant's case.

not apply to this case.⁵

Moreover, Defendant merely speculates that different counsel would have been better prepared. As the trial court failed to find any deficiency on the part of Attorney Love, no basis exists for arguing that another attorney could have done better. Moreover, to argue that some unknown attorney would have been more effective is nothing other than pure speculation which cannot support a finding that Defendant is entitled to a new trial. Consequently, the trial court properly summarily denied this claim.

⁵Alternatively, should this Court determine that the <u>LaGrand</u> decision somehow applies to the instant case. The State would argue that the decision of the ICJ is not retroactive based on <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922, 931 (Fla. 1980), which would not allow "...an alleged change of law [to] be considered in a capital case under Rule 3.850 unless the change: (a) emanates from this Court or the United States Supreme Court, (b) is constitutional in nature, and (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance." <u>See also Valdez v. Oklahoma</u>, 46 P.2d 703, 708-709 (OK 2002)(<u>LaGrand</u> decision not retroactive).

<u>ISSUE XII</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE STATE AND FEDERAL GOVERNMENTS CONSPIRED TO PRESENT FALSE TESTIMONY AGAINST HIM. (AS RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

Here, Defendant reiterates that Susan Shores's testimony was obtained through allegedly malicious prosecution, that the DNA evidence was improperly admitted and that Attorney Love should have moved to sever Defendant's case from McDonald's and pursued a different theory of defense. Each of these arguments has been addressed above.

Additionally, Defendant argued below that the State conspired to present false testimony against him through the testimony of Agent Vick. This claim was denied by the lower court as follows:

In his Motion, 18-19, the defendant suggests that Agent Vick testified that certain evidence had been lost, but that the specific testimony about this does not appear in the trial transcript. Collateral counsel says, "The Defendant specifically alleges that his Due Process Rights have been violated based upon a conspiracy by and among the Office of the State Attorney and any and all state and federal law enforcement agencies involved in the arrest, investigation and prosecution of him. The Defendant further specifically alleges that the tapes of the trial testimony will specifically show that this testimony of Agent Vick will appear as stated in this paragraph and that the defendant is entitled to a new trial." Motion, 18-19 (emphasis in original motion).

Not surprising, the state was uncertain what was being alleged, and thus, included the entire trial

transcript of Agent Vick's testimony as an exhibit to their response, which indicated not that evidence was lost, but consumed in testing. Response, 28.

At the *Huff* hearing, collateral counsel indicated the defendant was saying the transcript testimony was not correct and that "tapes" of the trial would establish this. HH, 122-126.

Of course, no such "tapes" of the trial have been produced to date, nor is this court aware of the existence of any such tapes. Additionally, it has not been suggested just how whatever testimony was "lost" would require anew trial. Whatever the testimony of Agent Vick was, whether it was as in the transcript, or as Mr. Gordon remembers, the jury that convicted the defendant, and recommended he be sentenced to death heard whatever Mr. Vick said at the trial. The defendant discussed this at the evidentiary hearing, even though an evidentiary hearing was not granted on this issue. His testimony at the hearing seemed to be saying Mr. Vick "lied" because of the state of the case law in existence at the time. HE, 185-188. This testimony made little sense. This issue is without merit, and is denied.

(PC-R III/472-473). However, Defendant appears to have

abandoned this claim on appeal. Thus, no relief is warranted.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the judgment and sentence should be affirmed.